
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

TIMOTHY STEWART, individually and on 
behalf of all others similarly situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

CITIZEN ADVOCATES, INC. doing business as 
NORTH STAR FAMILY OF SERVICES, 

     Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 

CLASS AND COLLECTIVE ACTION 
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES, 
RESTITUTION AND INJUNCTIVE 
RELIEF 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

Plaintiff, TIMOTHY STEWART, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, by his attorneys, The Law Office of Christopher Q. Davis, PLLC, alleges, upon 

personal knowledge and upon information and belief as to other matters, as follows: 

NATURE OF ACTION	

1. This is a collective and class action brought by Lead and Putative Class

Representative Plaintiff Timothy Stewart (the “Representative Plaintiff” or “Lead Plaintiff”) and 

all putative plaintiffs (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), on their own behalf and on behalf of the 

proposed collective classes and classes identified below.  Plaintiff and the Putative Class and 

Collective Class members were or are employed by Defendant Citizen Advocates, Inc., doing 

business as North Star Family of Services (“CAI” or “Defendant”), as non-exempt hourly 

“supervisors,” case managers and program managers and were denied overtime premium 

compensation by requiring these employees to work “off-the-clock” during their unpaid half-

hour meal breaks, as well as before and after they clocked out for their shifts, and failing to 
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properly calculate their regular rate of pay.  Defendant also failed to provide Plaintiffs and the 

Putative Class with accurate wage statements in violation of New York Labor Law (“NYLL”) 

§195(3).  Finally, Defendant also failed to provide Plaintiffs who no longer work for Defendant, 

and a separate class of former employees, credit due for accumulated paid time off, accrued but 

not yet used by their termination dates, under NYLL. The Putative Class and Collective Class of 

employees are similarly situated to the Lead Plaintiff under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 

and the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), and have suffered the same 

violations pursuant to Defendant’s common policies and practices.  

2. The Collective Class is made of all persons who are or have been employed by 

Defendant as supervisors, case managers and program managers assigned to Defendant’s 

facilities located in Saranac Lake and Malone at any time within the three years prior to this 

action’s filing date through the date of the final disposition of this action (the “Collective Class 

Period”) and who were subject to Defendant’s policy of failing to pay overtime premiums for all 

hours worked over 40 in a given workweek. 

3. The Overtime Class is made up of all persons who are or have been employed by 

Defendant as supervisors, case managers and program managers assigned to Defendant’s 

facilities located in Saranac Lake and Malone within the period of six years prior to the filing 

date of this Complaint (the “Class Period”) and who were subject to Defendants’ unlawful 

practice of failing to pay Plaintiffs overtime premiums for all hours worked over 40 in a given 

workweek, and Defendants’ unlawful practice of failing to provide Plaintiffs with accurate wage 

statements reflecting all hours, including overtime hours worked.  

4. The Paid Time Off (“PTO”) Class is made up of all persons who have been 

employed by Defendant as supervisors, case managers and program managers assigned to 
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Defendant’s facilities located in Saranac Lake and Malone within the Class Period and who were 

not paid accrued but not used credit due for paid time off at time of termination. 

5. Plaintiff seeks relief for the Classes pursuant to the applicable provisions of the 

NYLL and Collective Class under the FLSA, to remedy the Defendants’ failure to pay all wages 

due, in addition to injunctive relief. 

PARTIES 

6. Individual and Representative Plaintiff Timothy Stewart was a CAI program 

manager, presently and at all relevant times residing in Tupper Lake, Franklin County, New 

York.  He began his employment with Defendant in 1988 as a “supervisor,” and was soon after 

elevated to a case manager. He has held the title of program manager since the early 1990’s.  

Plaintiff Stewart left CAI on March 25, 2016. 

7. Defendant Citizen Advocates, Inc. doing business as North Star Family of 

Services is a New York not-for-profit corporation with its principle places of business at 209 

Park Street, P.O. Box 608, Malone, New York 12953, located within this judicial district. 

8. At all relevant times, the Defendant CAI has met the definition of Plaintiffs’ 

“employer” under Section 3(d) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(d) and NYLL §190(3).  

9. Upon information and belief, Defendant maintains control, oversight, and 

direction over its operations and employment practices.   

10. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendant employed employees, including 

Plaintiffs, who regularly engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce or in 

handling, selling or otherwise working on goods and materials that have moved in or are produced 

for commerce within the meaning of Section 3(b), (g), (i) and (j) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(b), 

(g), (i), and (j). 
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11. Lead Plaintiff is informed and believes and on that basis alleges that Defendant’s 

gross volume of business is not less than $500,000 within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 

203(s)(A)(ii). 

JURISDICTION & VENUE 

12. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337 

and supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.   

13. In addition, the Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims under the FLSA 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 207 et seq.   

14. This Court is empowered to issue a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 2201 and 2202. 

15. Venue is proper in the United States District Court, Northern District of New 

York, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because the wage violations which give rise to Plaintiffs’ 

claims occurred in this District, and because Defendant resides in this District. 

16. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because it resides in and 

routinely transact business in the Northern District of New York.   

WAGE AND HOUR COLLECTIVE CLASS 
AND CLASS ACTION FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 
17. CAI provides vocational training services to people with disabilities through its 

operations in two “Work Centers,” the North Franklin Work Center, located in Malone, New 

York and the South Franklin Work Center, located in Saranac Lake, New York. 

18. CAI provided vocational training over the years to a population ranging between 

120 and 300 disabled people, all residing in New York state.   

19. CAI utilizes full time employees to provide vocational training in five separate 

vocational settings and part-time temporary laborers.  
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20. Defendant has facilities in the North Franklin Work Center, located at 209 Park 

Street, and Creighton Road, Malone, New York 12953, and the South Franklin Work Center, 

located at 53 Edgewood Road, 70 Edgewood Road, and 33 Petrova Ave, Saranac Lake, New 

York 12953 (collectively referred to as the “Malone and Saranac Lake Facilities”).  

21. At the Saranac Lake Facilities, the workers provide behavioral health services for 

the disabled through the five vocational settings, organized as follows: at 33 Petrova Ave., there 

was custodial, a production room (handles mass mailings), horticulture and food service. The 53 

Edgewood Road facility provides a Redemption Center for deposit bottles where the clients work 

sorting bottles and processing. The facility at 70 Edgewood is a mental health and substance 

abuse clinic. 

22. At the Malone facility, the same five vocational settings have been offered 

although the horticulture has closed and been replaced by Adirondack wood furnishings.  

23. Supervisors, case managers and program managers assigned to the Malone and 

Saranac Lake Facilities are required to abide by the terms and conditions of CAI’s Personnel 

Policy Manual, which is applicable to all employees throughout the company.  

24. Steve Lockwood, CAI’s Director of Vocational Programming, and before him 

Scott Miller, oversee the business operations at the Malone and Saranac Lake Facilities.  Upon 

information and belief, Mr. Lockwood visits the Malone and Saranac Lake Facilities on a regular 

weekly basis.  

25. Amanda Riley, CAI’s Work Center Director, reports directly to Mr. Lockwood, 

and shares operational responsibility over the Saranac Lake South Franklin Work Center.  Upon 

information and belief, Ms. Riley supervises at least three program managers at the Saranac Lake 
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facility, who in turn oversee approximately between one and five case managers, 15 direct 

support staff and 20 seasonal laborers in Saranac Lake.  

26. Martha Bowen, CAI’s Work Center Director, reports directly to Mr. Lockwood, 

and shares operational responsibility over the Malone North Franklin Work Center.  Upon 

information and belief, Ms. Bowen supervises at least three case managers, and 15-20 direct 

support staff in Malone.  

27. Lockwood, Riley and Bowen oversee and enforce all operational policies and 

practices which relate to the services provided by employees in the Malone and Saranac Lake 

Facilities.  

Defendants’ Unlawful “Off the Clock” Practice of Forcing Plaintiffs to Work During 
Unpaid Lunch Breaks, as well as before and after shifts  
  

28. In order to provide CAI customers with adequate service, Defendant requires non-

exempt hourly employees to meet demanding productivity requirements each workday, forcing 

Plaintiffs to work in excess of 40 hours per week in order to avoid disciplinary action.  As a 

result, Plaintiffs regularly worked “off-the-clock” through their unpaid half-hour meal breaks, as 

well as before and after shifts.  

29. For example, Plaintiff Stewart started his work being responsible for one of the 

five vocational settings and the Saranac Lake facility. Over time, as employees responsible for 

other vocational settings left the company, the company simply dropped the extra responsibilities 

on Plaintiff Stewart’s lap. On information and belief, all of the employees are situated such that 

they have more work than they can possibly complete in 40 hours per week. 

30. Employees are assigned to weekly shifts that consist of 5 consecutive 8-hour 

days, or 40 hours a week, with a half-hour meal period, during which time the employee “clocks 

out.” According to the CAI Personnel Policy Manual, employees may also perform overtime-
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eligible labor that is pre-approved and scheduled in advance by a supervisor or manager, and are 

paid at one and one-half their hourly rate of pay for this time.   

31. According to the CAI Personnel Policy Manual, “Program Director approval is 

required for any overtime.” That document also provides that “Agency employees classified as 

non-exempt will be paid at a rate of one and one half times their regular hourly rate for all hours 

worked in excess of forty (40) per week.”  

32. According to the CAI Personnel Policy Manual, “An employee who is scheduled 

to work on an Agency recognized holiday will receive double pay for the hours worked on the 

holiday.” CAI did not pay double pay for plaintiffs who worked on holidays.  

33. Alternatively, CAI offered “Compensatory Time,” essentially paid time off that 

must be taken within the same pay period in which the employee works more than forty (40) 

hours per week. 

34. Defendant CAI, throughout the Class Period, made available to employees a time-

keeping system, where an employee could use his or her fingerprint and a numeric code in order 

to check in and check out. Employees would check in at the start of the shift, check out for a half 

hour lunch “break,” check back in after lunch, and check out at the end of the day. 

35. Defendant CAI violated Plaintiffs’ lunch breaks routinely. Employees would have 

lunch on-site at the staff lounge. While on “lunch break” the employees were often called in for 

behavioral problems, or they were otherwise on call to do things when necessary to serve the 

client population. 

36. Defendant CAI also required its employees to do things before and after their 

shift. For example, Plaintiff Stewart was required to arrive between an hour and an hour and a 

half early to meet and unload a truck bringing supplies, during which time the building was 
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locked, and he could not reach the clock. He would also be required to work late, for example, to 

supervise the janitorial staff, also comprised of clients of the facility. On information and belief, 

this happened throughout the company. In fact, those employees who worked in the greenhouse 

and garden had to work even more hours (approximately sixty hours per week) during peak 

agricultural seasons, for which they were offered “comp time,” instead of properly compensated 

overtime. Such Compensatory Time off was awarded in different pay periods, contrary to the 

company’s policy. 

37. Defendant CAI, pursuant to commonly enforced policies and practices, failed to 

provide Plaintiffs with any means or method, let alone any procedure, for recording actual hours 

worked during unpaid lunch breaks, and before and after shifts. This conflicts with CAI’s own 

mandate that employees must record all hours worked, and violates the NYLL and FLSA, which 

require employers to maintain accurate payroll records.     

38. As a result of Defendant’s failure to maintain accurate payroll records that reflect 

that actual amount of time that Plaintiffs worked, Defendant failed to furnish Plaintiffs and 

members of the Class with accurate and/or complete wage statements on each payday, that 

included the total hours worked each week and the full amount of wages earned during the pay 

period.   

Defendant Had Knowledge Of The Widespread “Off-The-Clock” Practices in the Malone 
and Saranac Lake Facilities  
 

39. Defendant’s knowledge of the pervasive and widespread nature of the off-the-

clock violations alleged herein was known by supervisors at the Work Center level, in willful 

violations of the labor laws.  

40. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on that basis alleges that management was 

well aware that they forced employees to work through their unpaid lunch without compensation. 
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Additionally, the Representative Plaintiffs complained about working through lunch, and 

working off the clock before and after their shifts to their supervisors on numerous occasions 

throughout the Class and Collective Class Time Period.   

41. Defendants knowingly failed to correct their illegal over time policies, and off-

the-clock violations continue to this day. 

Defendant’s Unlawful Practice of Failing to Pay Former Employees Accrued Paid Time Off 

42.   During the course of the Class Period, Defendant had in place a policy to 

provide its employees with a specific wage supplement. At first, the policy broke down the wage 

supplements among separate categories including vacation, holiday pay, paid sick leave, and the 

like. 

43. According to the CAI Personnel Policy Manual, Sixth Edition, Revised 10/09, 

“The Agency provides annual paid time off to all regular full-time and regular part-time 

employees,” in an amount that is based on the employee’s status and length of service. 

44. The Manual also specified that: “No more than one year’s worth of paid time off 

may be carried over to the next calendar year. Any accumulated paid time off days in excess of 

the allowed carry-over amount will be paid out to the employee.” 

45. Finally, the Manual provides that “At the time of separation, an employee will 

receive payment for any unused accrued paid time off.” 

46. CAI failed to pay out unused accrued paid time off, as specified in the manual. 

47. On March 28, 2012, Dean Johnston, Chief Operating Officer and Scott 

Henderson, Human Resources Director issued a memorandum changing these policies only to 

the extent that CAI would discontinue the year end payout of PTO time accrued in excess of the 
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yearly carry-over limit. This did not impact the amount of PTO time that plaintiffs accrued, in 

particular allowing a carryover of one year’s balance to the next year. 

FLSA COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

48. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all of the factual allegations made in the 

preceding paragraphs.   

49. Defendant employed Plaintiffs during the Collective Class Period. 

50. Defendant classified Plaintiffs and Members of the Collective Class as nonexempt 

for the purposes of the FLSA, paying them an hourly wage rather than an annual salary. 

51. Upon information and belief, there are approximately more than 100 current and 

former employees who are similarly situated to Lead Plaintiff and who were denied overtime 

compensation.  

52. The Lead Plaintiff represents other employees, and is acting on behalf of 

Defendant’s current and former employee’s interests as well as his own interest in bringing this 

action.  

53. Defendant unlawfully required Plaintiffs and all individuals employed by CAI to 

work through their unpaid half-hour meal breaks, and to work before their shifts and after their 

shifts.  

54. At all times during the Collective Class Period, Defendants, as a matter of 

common policy and/or practice, have not paid Plaintiffs lawful overtime premiums for all hours 

worked in excess of 40 hours in a work week.  

55. Plaintiffs seek to proceed as a collective action, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §216(b), on 

behalf of themselves and the following class of persons: 

Collective Class: All individuals employed by Defendant as supervisors, case 
managers, or program managers, or similar titles, in Defendant’s 
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Malone or Saranac Lake facilities at any point during the 
Collective Class Period who earned but were not paid lawful FLSA 
overtime premiums for hours worked over 40 in a work week 
during the Collective Class Period based on the practices alleged 
herein. 

 
56. Specifically, Plaintiffs’ Collective Class is further defined as involving (i) claims 

for unpaid overtime based on Defendants’ company-wide policy of miscalculating the “regular 

rate of pay” for the purposes of determining overtime pay entitlement; (ii) claims for unpaid 

overtime compensation for Defendant’s practice of forcing Plaintiffs to work “off the clock” and 

without compensation during unpaid meal breaks; and (iii) claims for unpaid overtime 

compensation for Defendant’s practice of forcing Plaintiffs to work “off the clock” and without 

compensation before and after their regular shift times. 

57. As such, the Lead Plaintiff and the Collective Class suffered damages for unpaid 

earned overtime wages under the FLSA in each of the weeks they worked during the Collective 

Class Period. 

58. Defendant was aware or should have been aware that the law required it to pay 

non-exempt employees, including Plaintiffs and the Collective Class, an overtime premium of 1 

and ½ times their regular rate of pay for all work-hours Defendant suffered or permitted them to 

work in excess of 40 per workweek.  

59. Defendant’s conduct, as set forth in this Complaint, was willful and in bad faith, 

and has caused significant damages to Plaintiffs and the Collective Class. 

60. Defendant is liable under the FLSA for failing to properly compensate Plaintiffs 

and the Collective Class, and as such, notice should be sent to the Collective Class.   

61. There are numerous similarly situated current and former employees of Defendant 

who were subject to the aforementioned policies in violation of the FLSA who would benefit 
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from the issuance of a Court supervised notice of the present lawsuit and the opportunity to join 

in the present lawsuit.   

62. Those similarly situated employees are known to the Defendant and are readily 

identifiable through Defendant’s records. 

FEDERAL RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 
RULE 23 NEW YORK CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

 
63. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the factual allegations made in the 

preceding paragraphs.   

64. Plaintiff seeks to proceed as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following defined classes: 

Proposed Overtime Class: All individuals employed by Defendant as supervisors, case 
managers, program managers, or similar titles, in Defendant’s 
Malone and Saranac Lake Facilities at any point during the Class 
Period who earned but were not paid lawful NYLL overtime 
premiums for hours worked over 40 in workweek during the Class 
Period based on the practices alleged herein. 

 
Proposed PTO Class: All individuals formerly employed by Defendant as supervisors, 

case managers, program managers, or similar titles, in Defendant’s 
Malone and Saranac Lake Facilities at any point during the Class 
Period who earned but were not paid lawful NYLL wage 
supplements during the Class Period based on the practices alleged 
herein. 

 
65. The Proposed Overtime Class and Proposed PTO Class are herein, collectively, 

the Proposed Classes. 

66. Specifically, Plaintiff’s Proposed Overtime Class is further defined as involving: 

(i) claims for unpaid overtime based on Defendants’ company-wide policy of miscalculating the 

“regular rate of pay” for the purposes of determining overtime pay entitlement; (ii) claims for 

unpaid overtime for Defendant CAI’s practice of forcing Plaintiffs to work “off the clock” and 

without compensation during unpaid meal breaks; (ii) claims for unpaid overtime for Defendant 
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CAI’s practice of forcing Plaintiffs to work “off the clock” and without compensation before and 

after regular shifts; (iii) claims for holiday pay at double wages; and (iv) claims for wage 

statement violations for Defendants’ failure to provide Plaintiffs’ with accurate wage statements 

on each payday that include the information required by NYLL §195(3), including the correct  

number of hours worked during the pay period.  

67. Defendant has violated NYCRR 142-2.2 and NYLL §§ 191, 193 by failing to pay 

Plaintiff and the putative class at least one and one-half times their wages for all hours worked 

over 40 during the class period pursuant to the same illegal practices and policies alleged above. 

68. Numerosity: The Proposed Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that during the Class 

Period, Defendants employed over 100 people who satisfy the definition of the Proposed 

Classes. 

69. Typicality: Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of those of the Proposed Class.  The 

Representative Plaintiff is informed and believes that, like other employees, the Class members 

were subjected to Defendant’s policies, practices, programs, procedures, protocols and plans 

alleged herein concerning the failure to pay proper wages, failure to keep adequate records and 

failure to furnish accurate wage statements. 

70. Superiority: A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair 

and efficient adjudication of the controversy. 

71. Adequacy: The Representative Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the 

interests of the Proposed Classes, and has retained counsel experienced in complex FLSA and 

NYLL class and collective action litigation. 
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72. Commonality:  Common questions of law and fact exist to all members of the 

Proposed Class and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the 

Proposed Class, including but not limited to: 

a. Whether Defendant unlawfully failed to pay lawful overtime premiums for all 

hours worked over 40 in a workweek for those violations stated above; 

b. Whether those violations were pursuant to a common policy or practice applicable 

to all class members; 

c. Whether Defendant furnished class members with accurate wage statements on 

each payday containing the information required by NYLL § 195(3); 

d. Whether Defendant failed to pay members of the Proposed PTO Class benefits or 

wage supplements as required by NYLL § 198-c. 

e. Whether Defendant kept and maintained records with respect to each hour worked 

by Plaintiff and the Proposed Overtime Class; 

f. Whether those violations were pursuant to a common policy or practice applicable 

to all class members; 

g. Whether Defendant employed Plaintiffs and the Proposed Classes within the 

meaning of New York law; 

h. The proper measure of damages sustained by the Proposed Classes; and 

i. Whether Defendant’s actions were “willful.” 

73. The case is maintainable as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1) because 

prosecution of actions by or against individual members of the class would result in inconsistent 

or varying adjudications and create the risk of incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants.  

Further, adjudication of each individual member’s claim as a separate action would be 
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dispositive of the interest of other individuals not party to this action, impeding their ability to 

protect their interests. 

74. Class certification is also appropriate under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because 

questions of law and fact common to the Proposed Classes predominate over any questions 

affecting only individual members of the Proposed Classes, and because a class action is superior 

to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation.  Defendant’s 

common and uniform policies and practices denied the Proposed Classes the wages and wage 

supplements to which they are entitled. The damages suffered by the individual members of the 

Proposed Classes are small compared to the expense and burden of individual prosecution of this 

litigation.  In addition, class certification is superior because it will obviate the need for unduly 

duplicative litigation that might result in inconsistent judgments about Defendant’s practices. 

75. Plaintiff intends to send notice to all members of the Proposed Classes to the 

extent required by Rule 23. The names and addresses of the Proposed Classes are available from 

Defendant. 

76. During the class period, and upon information and belief, Plaintiff worked more 

than 1 hour of overtime-eligible work during the Class and Collective Class Periods for which he 

was not paid a lawful overtime premium of time and one half of his regular rate of pay.   

AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Unlawful Failure to Pay Overtime Compensation under the Fair Labor Standards Act) 

 
77. Plaintiff alleges and incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding 

paragraphs. 

78. Plaintiff consents in writing to be a part of this action, pursuant to 20 U.S.C. § 

216(b).  Plaintiff’s written consent form is attached hereto.  Plaintiff anticipates that as this case 

proceeds, other individuals will sign consent forms and join as plaintiffs. 
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79. At all relevant times, Defendant has been an “employer” engaged in interstate 

commerce and/or in the production of goods for commerce, within the meaning of the FLSA, 20 

U.S.C. § 203.  At all relevant times, Defendant has employed and continue to employ employees, 

including Plaintiffs, and the Collective Class members.  At all relevant times, upon information 

and belief, Defendant has gross operating revenues in excess of $500,000.00.   

80. The FLSA requires each covered employer to compensate all non-exempt 

employees at a rate of not less than one and one-half times the regular rate of pay for work 

performed in excess of forty hours per work week. 

81. During their employment with Defendant, within the applicable statute of 

limitations, Plaintiff and the other Collective Class members worked in excess of forty hours per 

workweek without lawful overtime compensation.   

82. Despite the hours worked by Plaintiff and the Collective Class members, 

Defendants willfully, in bad faith, and in knowing violation of the Federal Fair Labor Standards 

Act, failed and refused to pay them overtime compensation. 

83. Plaintiffs were not paid FLSA mandated overtime premiums uniformly and based 

on the policies and practices articulated above.   

84. Also, by failing to accurately record, report, and/or preserve records of hours 

worked by Plaintiff and the Collective Class, Defendant has failed to make, keep, and preserve 

records with respect to each of their employees sufficient to determine their wages, hours, and 

other conditions and practices of employment, in violation of the FLSA, 20 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. 

85. Defendant has failed to make a good faith effort to comply with the FLSA with 

respect to its compensation to Plaintiff and the Collective Class. 
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86. The foregoing conduct, as alleged, constitutes a willful violation of the FLSA, 

within the meaning of 29 U.S.C §§ 216(b) and 255(a). 

87. Because Defendant’s violations of the FLSA were willful, a 3-year statute of 

limitation applies, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 255. 

88. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Collective Class, seek recovery of their 

attorneys’ fees and costs to be paid by Defendants, as provided by the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

AS AND FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Failure to Pay Lawful Overtime Premiums in Violation of NYCRR § 142.2.2 and 

Article 19 of the NYLL) 
 

89. Plaintiff alleges and incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding 

paragraphs. 

90. At all relevant times, Plaintiff was an employee and the Defendant has been an 

employer within the meaning of the New York Labor Law. 

91. The overtime wage provisions of Article 19 of the New York Labor Law and its 

supporting regulations apply to Defendant. 

92. Defendant has failed to pay Plaintiffs and the Rule 23 Proposed Overtime Class 

the overtime wages to which they were entitled under the New York Labor Law. 

93. By Defendant’s failure to pay Plaintiff and the Rule 23 Proposed Overtime Class 

Members premium overtime wages for hours worked in excess of 40 hours per week, it has 

willfully violated the New York Labor Law Article 19, §§ 650 et seq., and the supporting New 

York State Department of Labor Regulations, including but not limited to the regulations in 12 

N.Y.C.R.R. Part 142. 

94. Due to Defendant’s violations of the New York Labor Law, Plaintiff and the Rule 

23 Proposed Overtime Class Members are entitled to recover from Defendant their unpaid 
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overtime wages, liquidated damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of the action, and pre-

judgment and post-judgment interest. 

AS AND FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Failure to Pay Lawful Accrued, Unused Wage Supplements in Violation of NYLL 

§ 198-c and Article 6) 
 

95. Plaintiff alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding 

paragraphs. 

96. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and the Proposed PTO Class are former employees 

and the Defendant has been an employer within the meaning of the New York Labor Law. 

97. The minimum specific wage supplement provisions of Article 6 of the New York 

Labor Law and its supporting regulations apply to Defendant. 

98. Defendant has failed to pay Plaintiff and the Rule 23 Proposed PTO Class the 

wage supplements to which they were entitled under the New York Labor Law. 

99. By Defendant’s failure to pay Plaintiff and the Rule 23 Proposed PTO Class 

Members accrued and unused wage supplements, upon termination or separation, they have 

willfully violated the New York Labor Law Article 6, § 198-c, and the supporting New York 

State Department of Labor Regulations. 

100. Due to Defendant’s violations of the New York Labor Law, Plaintiff and the Rule 

23 Putative PTO Class Members are entitled to recover from Defendants their unpaid accrued 

wage supplements, liquidated damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of the action, and 

pre-judgment and post-judgment interest. 

AS AND FOR A FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Failure to Furnish Accurate Wage Statements in Violation of NYLL §195(3)) 

 
101. Plaintiff alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding 

paragraphs. 
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102. At all relevant times, Plaintiff was an employee and the Defendant has been an 

employer within the meaning of the New York Labor Law. 

103. The recording keeping provisions of Article 19 of the New York Labor Law and 

its supporting regulations apply to Defendant. 

104. Defendant did not provide Plaintiff and members of the Rule 23 Proposed Classes 

with a legally sufficient wage statement upon the payment of wages, as required by NYLL § 

195(3). 

105. NYLL §195(3) requires that employers furnish employees with wage statements 

containing accurate, specifically enumerated criteria required under the NYLL. 

106. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and members of the 

Classes are entitled to an award of damages pursuant to NYLL § 198, in an amount to be 

determined at trial, pre- and post-judgment interest, costs and attorneys’ fees, as provided by 

NYLL § 663. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 
WHEREFORE, Lead Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and all members of the putative class 

and collective actions, prays for relief as follows: 

A. That the Court determine that this action may proceed as a class action under Rule 

23(b)(1) and (3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; 

B. That Defendant is found to have violated the provisions of the New York Labor 

Law as to Plaintiff and the Classes; 

C. That Defendant is found to have violated the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act as 

to Plaintiff and the Collective Class; 

D. That Defendant’s violations as described above are found to be willful; 
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E. An award to Plaintiffs and the Collective Class and Class Members for the 

amount of unpaid wages owed, including interest thereon, and penalties, including 

liquidated damages, subject to proof at trial; 

F. That Defendant further be enjoined to cease and desist from unlawful activities in 

violation of the FLSA and NYLL; 

G. That Plaintiff’s counsel and Plaintiff Timothy Stewart can adequately represent 

the interests of the class as class counsel and class representative, respectively.   

H. An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to the NYLL and 29 

U.S.C. § 216 and/or other applicable law; and 

I. For such other and further relief, in law or equity, as this Court may deem 

appropriate and just. 

JURY DEMAND 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury 

as to all issues so triable. 

DATED:  December 21, 2016  
 
  

THE LAW OFFICE OF CHRISTOPHER Q. 
DAVIS, PLLC 

________________________________         
 

Christopher Q. Davis (CD-7282) 
The Law Office of Christopher Q. Davis, PLLC 
225 Broadway, Suite 1803 
New York, New York 10007 
646-430-7930  
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